01

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE AUG 3 1995

By Chief Deputy Clerk

FREDERICK BAILEY, MARIO M. GOULD, and MARCUS GORDON,

Petitioners,

v.

CASE NO. 81,621

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER FLA. BAR NO. 197890 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONERS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FREDERICK BAILEY,
MARIO M. GOULD, and

MARCUS GORDON,

Petitioners,

CASE NO. 81,621

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioners were the defendants in the trial court and the appellees in the lower tribunal. Separate one volume records on appeal were prepared for each petitioner. They will be cited by the petitioner's name, "R," and followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. A one volume transcript for all three petitioners will be referred to as "T," Attached hereto as an appendix is the opinion of the lower tribunal, which has been reported as State v. Bailey, et al., 614 So. 2d 1224 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). The issue presented in this case is also pending review before this Court in Brown v. State, case no. 81,189, oral argument set for November 1, 1993; Turner v. State, case no. 81,724; and State v. Kirkland, case no. 81,725.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By amended information filed January 22, 1991, petitioner Bailey was charged with sale of cannabis within 200 feet of a public housing facility and possession of cannabis (Bailey R 7-8). By information filed December 2, 1991, petitioner Gould was charged with sale of cocaine within 200 feet of a public housing facility and possession of cocaine (Gould R 9-10). By information filed July 12, 1991, petitioner Gordon was charged with sale of cannabis within 200 feet of a public housing facility, possession of cannabis, delivery of paraphernalia, and possession of paraphernalia (Gordon R 6-7).

Petitioners filed nearly identical motions to dismiss the counts which charged sale within 200 feet of a public housing facility (Bailey R 16-17; Gould R 16-17; Gordon R 13-14). Their motions were heard at a consolidated hearing on January 13, 1992, by Circuit Judge Robert P. Cates, in addition to a motion filed by a defendant named Leon Houston. The prosecutor amended the information as to Houston to drop the public housing facility accusation (T 2-4), saying:

quite candidly, because there apparently is a difference between a public housing facility and what is referred to on the street as subsidized housing. (T 11).

Petitioners' counsel argued the term "public housing facility" was vague (T 5-7).

The state presented the testimony of Gail Monahan,

Executive Director of the Alachua County Housing Authority.

She defined "public housing facility" as:

any unit that was owned by a public housing authority and rented to low income people. (T 12).

She further testified, upon questioning by the court, that there was another type of housing for low income people known as "subsidized housing," which she defined as:

any housing that gets federal help, but it's often in the form of an interest subsidy in the loans. So, I can give you examples of those: Gardenia Homes, homes that are given money by the Farmers Home Administration. They're given huge interest cuts. So they have a tie to the federal government, but they're not considered public housing. (T 13).

The rent in subsidized housing may be \$120.00, whereas in public housing it would be nothing or \$3.00 (T 14). She named the following as public housing facilities in Alachua County: Thistle Hills East and West, Meadowbrook, Merrillwood, the HItchcock subdivision, Pine Tree Terrace, and Pleasant Gardens (T 14-15).

A member of the public would differentiate between public and subsidized housing by how much rent they could pay (T 15). Upon further questioning by the court, the following occurred:

THE COURT: Is there anything on the sign or the logo or the -- however you identify your projects that differentiates between your project, a public housing facility, and subsidized housing?

THE WITNESS: Not to my knowledge. (T 16).

*

THE COURT: Is the term public housing facility defined in your policy manual?

THE WITNESS: I'm not going to swear to that because I didn't look it up. (T 18).

She further testified that public housing facilities are owned by the Housing Authority, along with the government. Subsidized housing is owned by private companies or church groups or the Volunteers of America (T 19). Subsidized housing is totally distinct from public housing (T 23).

Again, upon questioning by the court:

THE COURT: Is there anything that would differentiate a public housing facility for non -- someone not connected with your agency, just a renter or a member of the public, is there anything that would differentiate a public housing facility from any other apartment building?

THE WITNESS: Well, we used to say green doors because all public housing had green doors, but we've sort of tried to stop that. You know, I certainly think, and maybe just because I've done it so long, they look like public housing. I think if you drove by you would wonder if it was just a regular housing area. They don't -- and that may just -- I don't know.

THE COURT: I would wonder if it is --

THE WITNESS: You would think, "Is that an apartment complex or what is that?" They just don't look the same.

THE COURT: Can you pinpoint how they are different? Is it --

THE WITNESS: Not to our benefit.

Oftentimes, they don't look as kempt [sic] as a private place would look.

THE COURT: Not as well kept?

THE WITNESS: Right.

THE COURT: Not as architecturally --

THE WITNESS: They're very plain, not a lot of your fences and nice things like that that you see --

THE COURT: But other than those things, which may be a subjective matter of individual taste, is there anything about your facility that says public housing facility?

THE WITNESS: Is there a sign that says that?

THE COURT: Sign or newspaper ads or TV ads or however you get the word out to people that you have units available, your brochures, however you do it.

THE WITNESS: I have a waiting list that's so long I can't fill it. So, actually, I do no publicity. So, in terms of specifically driving in and saying, "Here's a public housing facility," it doesn't.

THE COURT: It says Thistle Hills and its supposed to look like Thistle Hills Apartments?

THE WITNESS: Right. (T 24-25).

Gardenia Gardens is subsidized as opposed to public housing (T 27). Counsel argued that because Leon Houston was charged with sale of cocaine within 200 feet of a public housing facility at Gardenia Gardens, which was subsidized housing, not even the state attorney could tell the difference (T 27).

Counsel further argued the issue was not whether Ms.

Monahan or the court could tell the difference, but rather whether the average person could (T 29).

The trial judge entered written orders, finding the term "public housing facility" to be unconstitutionally vague, and

dismissing those counts of the informations (Bailey R 18-20; Gould R 20-23; Gordon R 15-18).

On March 25, 1992, timely notices of appeal were filed by the state (Bailey R 21; Gould R 23; Gordon R 18). The Public Defender of the Second Judicial Circuit was designated to represent petitioners in the consolidated appeal below.

On appeal, the First District disagreed with the trial judge and held the statute to be constitutional on authority of its prior opinions in <u>Brown v. State</u>, 610 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), review pending, case no. 81,189, oral argument set for November 1, 1993, and <u>Turner v. State</u>, 615 So. 2d 819 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), review pending, case no. 81,519:

Subsequent to the trial court's decisions in these cases, this Court has addressed the precise issue here, concluding that the statute is not unconstitutionally vague. Appendix at 1.

On April 19, 1993, a timely notice of discretionary review was filed, pursuant to Art. V, §3(b)(3), Fla. Const., and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i), Fla.R.App.P. On July 30, 1993, this Court accepted review.

III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The First District's opinion in this case expressly declares valid the state statute creating the crime of sale of a controlled substance within 200 feet of a public housing facility, making the crime a first degree felony, and prohibiting release through control release or the accumulation of gain time.

An opinion from this Court will notify citizens of this state what conduct is prohibited. The First District's opinion in Brown assumes the general public knows what a "public housing facility" is, although that term was never defined by the legislature and cannot be found in the dictionary. In fact, the dictionary definitions of these words would lead a person of common intelligence to believe that any place where people live is a protected area.

The due process vagueness doctrine requires a statute to both give notice to its citizens what conduct is prohibited and prevent discriminatory enforcement.

The Second District has criticized the lower tribunal's Brown opinion and declared the statute to be unconstitutionally vague. The Third District has agreed with the First. This Court should adopt the position of the Second District, quash the First and Third Districts, and declare the statute unconstitutionally vague on its face.

IV ARGUMENT SECTION 893.13(1)(i), FLORIDA STATUTES, IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE ON ITS FACE.

The First District's construction of §893.13(1)(i), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1990), is incorrect because it expressly declares valid an unconstitutionally vague statute. Section 893.13(1)(i) states, in pertinent part:

it is unlawful for any person to sell, ... a controlled substance in, on, or within 200 feet of the real property comprising a public housing facility, ... (emphasis added).

The statute makes the crime a first degree felony, and exempts the offender from consideration for control release and gain time.

Petitioners contended below and argue here that this statute violates State and Federal due process guarantees, because it does not give notice of what is prohibited, in that "public housing facility" is not defined. The due process vagueness doctrine requires a statute to both give notice to its citizens what conduct is prohibited and prevent discriminatory enforcement.

¹The undersigned could not locate a parallel federal criminal statute on point. 21 U.S.C. §860 doubles the penalties for distribution of controlled substances within 1000 feet of a school, much like §893.13(1)(e), Fla. Stat., but does not speak to public housing facilities. The federal government encourages the eviction of residents of housing facilities owned by HUD, who are involved in drugs, 42 U.S.C. §1437d(1), but that policy has come under some criticism. Comment, 36 Loyola L. Rev. 137 (1990).

In <u>Kolender v. Lawson</u>, 461 U.S. 352, 357, 103 S. Ct. 1855, 75 L. Ed. 2d 903 (1983), the court ruled the California loitering statute unconstitutionally vague. The court set forth this test:

As generally stated, the void-for-vagueness doctrine requires that a penal statute define the criminal offense with such sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.

In <u>Bertens v. Stewart</u>, 453 So. 2d 92, 93 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), the court said, citing <u>State v. Wershow</u>, 343 So. 2d 605 (Fla. 1977):

It is constitutionally impermissible for a statute to contain such vague language that a person of common intelligence must speculate about its meaning and subject himself to punishment if his guess is wrong.

A statute is unconstitutionally vague if it:

fails to give adequate notice of the conduct it prohibits and which, because of its imprecision, may also invite arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.

Id., citing Southeastern Fisheries Assoc. v. Department of Natural Resources, 453 So. 2d 1351 (Fla. 1984).

In <u>Bertens</u>, the court held a rule, which prohibited personal possession of "medicine" at school, was unconstitutional because it failed to give adequate notice what is required under due process.

In reaching its decision that the rule was impermissibly vague, the court noted that the school board's failure to

define medicine did not, in and of itself, render the rule unconstitutional. Rather, the court looked to the "ordinary" meaning of the term "medicine." The court concluded that the dictionary definition did not cure the infirmity and that the term "medicine" was impermissibly vague.

See also <u>Linville v. State</u>, 359 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 1978), in which this Court declared unconstitutional a statute which outlawed the sniffing of a "chemical substance," because it too broadly encompassed an unduly large number of materials and objects.

Penal statutes must be strictly construed, §775.021(1), Fla. Stat., and they require greater certainty than other statutes. State v. Winters, 346 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1977).

The First District held in Brown that:

Although the definition of "public housing facility" might not be included in a dictionary, a person of ordinary intelligence should know what was intended by the phrase. 610 So. 2d at 1358; emphasis added.

But this is not the test; it is not whether a person should know; rather, it is whether a person of common intelligence does know what the term means by reading the statute.

The Third District made the same mistake in <u>Williams v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 618 So. 2d 323 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1993), when it ruled the same statute constitutional because its judges knew what the term meant:

The term "public housing," in common parlance, is understood to to encompass affordable, government subsidized housing

for individuals or families with varied needs.

Id. at 324.

The Second District reached the proper result in <u>State v.</u>

<u>Thomas, et al.</u>, 616 So. 2d 1198 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1993), review pending, case no. 81,724, when it ruled the statute unconstitutionally vague. First, it criticized the lower tribunal for its cursory examination of the statute:

We find Brown, however, to be neither helpful nor persuasive as the discussion therein regarding the vagueness of the statute is limited to one paragraph

While the Brown court concludes that "a person of ordinary intelligence should know what was intended by the phrase public housing facility, we have not been able to decipher the intended meaning of the phrase with any degree of precision. The phrase is not defined in any dictionary, case law or sufficiently related statute that we can discover. While each of the three words of the phrase can be independently and easily defined, when used together in the statute, they present a veritable quagmire for any attempt at uniform enforcement.

Id at 1199; emphasis in original.

Next, the Second District struggled to find a way to place a judicial gloss on the statute which would make it constitutional.

We used several approaches as we analyzed the alleged vagueness of this statute. We first considered whether we could articulate a precise jury instruction that would adequately advise a jury how to apply the statute in any particular set of circumstances. We were unable to do so. We also considered whether we could advise law enforcement officers in the field as to a precise standard to apply in enforcing

the statute. We were unable to do so. We then considered at great length the myriad circumstances under which the statutory prohibition might be applicable. Although we could provide a long list of such circumstances, we set forth here only a few of the possibilities that raised sufficient doubt in our minds to require us to conclude the statute is unconstitutionally vague.

Id. The Second District next looked at each individual term, beginning with the term "public:"

> In regard to the "public" aspect of the "public housing facility" provision, we have no way of definitively ascertaining whether the legislature intended the phrase to apply to publicly-owned housing to the exclusion of privately-owned housing; to housing available for occupancy by the "public" in general or for low income occupants only; to housing that is government financed or built; to housing that is privately owned but government financed or built; or to housing that is privately-owned but leased to a government agency for availability to public welfare recipients. We simply have no idea as to the limitations that might be or should be applied to the "public" aspect of a "public housing facility."

Id. The Second District then looked at the term "housing:"

The same problem exists in trying to correctly determine the parameters of the term "housing." Does that term apply to rental units only? Does it refer to multifamily housing only or also to single family units? Does it apply to dormitory and congregate living facilities? Are military housing facilities included? Are religious or charitable owned and operated facilities available for occupancy or "shelter use" by the public included? The possibilities extend ad infinitum.

Id. The Second District finally examined the term "facility:"

Finally, the term "facility" is open to so many possible interpretations as to

be bewildering. Are the corporate offices of a "public housing facility" included? Are government offices that operate low income housing included? Are sewage, water and utility facilities included?

Id. at 1199-1200. The Second District then declared the statute to be unconstitutionally vague:

In our opinion the possibilities for a misapplication of the term "public housing facility" are too numerous to allow that provision to section 893.13(1)(i) to withstand constitutional scrutiny.

Id. at 1200.

The soundness of the Second District's opinion is demonstrated by the prosecutor's action in the instant motion hearing, which also involved a defendant named Leon Houston. The prosecutor amended the information as to Houston to drop the public housing facility accusation (T 2-4), saying:

quite candidly, because there apparently is a difference between a public housing facility and what is referred to on the street as subsidized housing. (T 11).

Gardenia Gardens, where Houston allegedly sold drugs, is subsidized as opposed to public housing (T 27). Not even the state attorney could tell the difference.

The soundness of the Second District's opinion is demonstrated by the testimony in the instant motion hearing, of Gail Monahan, Executive Director of the Alachua County Housing Authority. She defined "public housing facility" as:

any unit that was owned by a public housing authority and rented to low income people. (T 12).

She further testified, upon questioning by the court, that there was another type of housing for low income people known as "subsidized housing," which she defined as:

any housing that gets federal help, but it's often in the form of an interest subsidy in the loans. So, I can give you examples of those: Gardenia Homes, homes that are given money by the Farmers Home Administration. They're given huge interest cuts. So they have a tie to the federal government, but they're not considered public housing. (T 13).

The rent in subsidized housing may be \$120.00, whereas in public housing it would be nothing or \$3.00 (T 14). She named the following as public housing facilities in Alachua County: Thistle Hills East and West, Meadowbrook, Merrillwood, the HItchcock subdivision, Pine Tree Terrace, and Pleasant Gardens (T 14-15).

A member of the public would differentiate between public and subsidized housing by how much rent they could pay (T 15). Upon further questioning by the court, the following occurred:

THE COURT: Is there anything on the sign or the logo or the -- however you identify your projects that differentiates between your project, a public housing facility, and subsidized housing?

THE WITNESS: Not to my knowledge. (T 16).

* *

THE COURT: Is the term public housing facility defined in your policy manual?

THE WITNESS: I'm not going to swear to that because I didn't look it up. (T 18).

She further testified that public housing facilities are owned by the Housing Authority, along with the government. Subsidized housing is owned by private companies or church groups or the Volunteers of America (T 19). Subsidized housing is totally distinct from public housing (T 23).

Again, upon questioning by the court:

THE COURT: Is there anything that would differentiate a public housing facility for non -- someone not connected with your agency, just a renter or a member of the public, is there anything that would differentiate a public housing facility from any other apartment building?

THE WITNESS: Well, we used to say green doors because all public housing had green doors, but we've sort of tried to stop that. You know, I certainly think, and maybe just because I've done it so long, they look like public housing. I think if you drove by you would wonder if it was just a regular housing area. They don't -- and that may just -- I don't know.

THE COURT: I would wonder if it is --

THE WITNESS: You would think, "Is that an apartment complex or what is that?" They just don't look the same.

THE COURT: Can you pinpoint how they are different? Is it --

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