047

FILED

SID J. WHITE

AUG 9 1993

9/3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

FREDERICK BAILEY,
MARIO M. GOULD,
and MARCUS GORDON,

Petitioners,

v.

Case No.: 81,621

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

_____ /

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR #0325791

GYPSY BAILEY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR #0797200

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

Preliminary Statement

Respondent, the State of Florida, the prosecuting authority in the trial court and appellant below, will be referred to in this brief as the state. Petitioners, FREDERICK BAILEY, MARIO M. GOULD, and MARCUS GORDON, the defendants in the trial court and appellees below, will be referred to in this brief as petitioners. References to the record on appeal will be designated by the symbol "R," and references to the plea and sentencing transcripts will be designated by the symbol "T." All references will be followed by the appropriate page numbers in parentheses.

Petitioners listed a number of cases pending before this Court on the same issue in their preliminary statement. This list is accurate but incomplete, as it does not include State v. Redden, Case No. 81,805.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state accepts petitioners's statement of the case and facts as reasonably supported by the record.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The First District properly concluded that section 893.13(1)(i) was not unconstitutionally vague. As is clearly evident under a proper vagueness analysis, petitioners had notice that their behavior was proscribed, and because their conduct fell clearly within the purview of the statute, the statute was not selectively enforced against them. This Court should decline to follow the reasoning in Thomas, where the Second District Court of Appeal erred as a matter of law in applying overbreadth principles to a vagueness claim. Such a blending of doctrines is unwarranted by case law and results in bad precedent.

ARGUMENT

Issue

WHETHER FLA. STAT. § 893.13(1)(i) (Supp. 1990) IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

This Court is well aware of the strong presumption in favor of the constitutionality of statutes. It is firmly established that all doubt will be resolved in favor of the constitutionality of a statute, and that an act will not be declared unconstitutional unless it is determined to be invalid beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Kinner, 398 So. 2d 1360, 1369 (Fla. 1981). Despite this presumption, petitioners claim that section 893.13(1)(i) is unconstitutionally vague because it does not notify the general public as to what activities are prohibited, due to the legislature's failure to define the phrase "public housing facility." Brief of Petitioners at 6. The statute's lack of such a definition does not render it infirm.

A vague statute is one which (1) fails to give adequate notice of what conduct is prohibited, and (2) because of its imprecision, may also invite arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement. Southeastern Fisheries Ass'n v. Dep't of Natural Resources, 453 So. 2d 1351, 1353 (Fla. 1984). Recently, this Court spoke to the notice requirement of this doctrine:

A statute which does not give people of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what constitutes forbidden conduct is vague. Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156 . . . (1972); State v. Winters, 346 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1977); Franklin v. State, 257 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 1971). The language of a statute must "provide a definite warning of what conduct" is required or prohibited, "measured by common understanding and practice." State v. Bussey, 463 So. 2d 1141, 1144 (Fla. 1985). To this end, a statute must be written "in language which is relevant to today's society." Franklin, 257 So. 2d at 23.

Warren v. State, 572 So. 2d 1376, 1377 (Fla. 1991). Here, there can be no serious contention that a person of common intelligence would not clearly understand from the statute¹ an outright prohibition against activities involving illegal drugs near public housing facilities.

¹ Section 893.13(1)(i), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1990), provides:

Except as authorized by this chapter, it is unlawful for any person to sell, purchase, manufacture, or deliver, or to possess with the intent to sell, purchase, manufacture, or deliver, a controlled substance in, on, or within 200 feet of the real property comprising a public housing facility, within 200 feet of the real property comprising a public or private college, university, or other postsecondary educational institution, or within 200 feet of any public park.

When a statute does not specifically define a given word or phrase, the words should be afforded their plain ordinary meaning. Southeastern Fisheries, 453 So. 2d at 1353. Public, as opposed to private, housing in this case connotes "official" housing, provided by local, state, or federal government, i.e., not private apartment housing. Black's Law Dictionary 624, 642 (5th ed. 1983). See also Webster's Third New International Dictionary, Public Housing at 1836 (1981 ed.) ("low-rent housing owned, sponsored, or administered by a government").²

Petitioners devote many pages of their brief to exploring the various meanings of the individual words contained in the phrase "public housing facility," quoting at length from State v. Thomas, et al., 18 Fla. L. Weekly D1067 (Fla. 2d DCA Apr. 21, 1993).³ There, the Second District declared section 893.13(1)(i) "unconstitutionally vague because it is so imprecise as to invite arbitrary or discriminatory enforcement," finding Brown v. State, 610 So.

² "Although the critical words are not statutorily defined, they can be readily understood by reference to commonly accepted dictionary definitions." Powell v. State, 508 So. 2d 1307, 1310 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). See Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, Inc., 455 U.S. 489, 501 & 503 n.20 (1982) (using two dictionaries for definitions).

³ Pending before this Court in case number 81,724.

2d 1356 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), "neither helpful nor persuasive":

While each of the three words of the phrase can be independently and easily defined, when used together in the statute, they present a veritable quagmire for any attempt at uniform enforcement.

We used several approaches as we analyzed the alleged vagueness of this statute. We first considered whether we could articulate a precise jury instruction that would adequately advise a jury how to apply the statute in any particular set of circumstances. We were unable to do so. We also considered whether we could advise law enforcement officers in the field as to a precise standard to apply in enforcing the statute. We were unable to do so. We then considered at great length the myriad circumstances under which the statutory prohibition might be applicable. Although we could provide a long list of such circumstances, we set forth here only a few of the possibility that raised sufficient doubt in our minds to require us to conclude that the statute is unconstitutionally vague.

In regard to the "public" aspect of the "public housing facility" provision, we have no way of definitively ascertaining whether the legislature intended the phrase to apply to publicly-owned housing to the exclusion of privately-owned housing; to housing available for occupancy by the "public" in general or for low income occupants only; to housing that is government financed or built; or to housing that is privately-owned but leased to a government agency for availability to public welfare recipients. We simply have no idea as to the limitations that might be or should be applied to the "public" aspect of a "public housing facility."

The same problem exists in trying to correctly determine the parameters of the term "housing." Does that term apply to rental units only? Does it refer to multifamily housing only or also to single family units? Does it apply to dormitory and congregate living facilities? Are military housing and facilities included? Are religious or charitable owned and operated facilities available for occupancy or "shelter use" by the public included? The possibilities extend ad infinitum.

Finally, the term "facility" is open to so many possible interpretations as to be bewildering. Are the corporate offices of a "public housing facility" included? Are government offices that operate low income housing included? Are sewage, water and utility facilities included?

In our opinion the possibilities for a misapplication of the term "public housing facility" are too numerous to allow that provision to section 893.13(1)(i) to withstand constitutional scrutiny. Our decision does not affect the validity of other portions of that statute.

Thomas, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D1067-68.

The efforts of petitioners and the Second District in propounding numerous hypothetical definitions of each word is futile, where the focus is on the meaning of the phrase, not the individual words. See Deal v. United States, 7 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S283, S284 & S285 (U.S. May 17, 1993) ("[T]he meaning of a word cannot be determined in isolation, but must be drawn from the context in which it is used";

"petitioner's contention displays once again the regrettable penchant for construing words in isolation."); Brown, 610 So. 2d at 1358 (petitioners "ignore[] the fact that the phrase itself has a meaning more narrow than that gleaned from the definitions of its component words."). Moreover, within the "trade" of narcotics sales, "public housing facility" has a special meaning. See Southeastern Fisheries, 453 So. 2d at 1353. See also 42 U.S.C. § 11901 (1991) (Congress made the following findings: "(1) the Federal Government has a duty to provide public and other federally assisted low-income housing that is decent, safe, and free from illegal drugs; (2) public and other federally assisted low-income housing in many areas suffers from rampant drug-related crime; (3) drug dealers are increasingly imposing a reign of terror on public and other federally assisted low-income housing tenants; (4) the increase in drug-related crime not only leads to murders, muggings, and other forms of violence against tenants, but also to a deterioration of the physical environment that requires substantial government expenditures; and (5) local law enforcement authorities often lack the resources to deal with the drug problem in public and other federally assisted low-income housing, particularly in light of the recent reductions in Federal aid to cities.").⁴

⁴ Due to the similarities between the federal drug statutes, i.e., 21 U.S.C. § 860, and the one at issue here,

In view of the specific aim of section 893.13(1)(i) and the targeted meaning of the phrase "public housing facility,"

it is obviously unrealistic to require that criminal statutes define offenses with extreme particularity. For one thing, there are inherent limitations in the use of language; few words possess the precision of mathematical symbols. Secondly, legislators cannot foresee all of the variations of fact situations which may arise under a statute. While some ambiguous statutes are the result of poor draftsmanship, it is apparent that in many instances the uncertainty is merely attributable to a desire not to nullify the purpose of the legislation by the use of specific items which would afford loopholes through which many could escape.

W. R. LaFave & A. W. Scott, Substantive Criminal Law, Void-for-Vagueness Doctrine § 2.3, at 127-28 (1986). See also Southeastern Fisheries, 453 So. 2d at 1353 ("[C]ourts cannot require the legislature to draft laws with such specificity that the intent and purpose of the law may be easily avoided."); Smith v. State, 237 So. 2d 139, 141 (Fla. 1970) ("To make a statute sufficiently certain to comply with constitutional requirements it is not necessary that it furnish detailed plans and specifications of the acts or conduct prohibited. . . . 'The law is full of instances

this court should view the federal statutes as persuasive authority. State v. Hermann, 164 Wis.2d 269, _____, 474 N.W.2d 906, 909 n.3 (Ct. App. 1991).

where a man's fate depends on his estimating rightly, that is, as the jury subsequently estimates it, some matter of degree.'" (citations omitted; emphasis supplied).

In the present case, the phrase "public housing facility" is intelligible enough to place a person of common intelligence on notice of the proscribed behavior. See Brown, 610 So. 2d at 1358 ("[A] person of ordinary intelligence should know what was intended by the phrase."); Williams v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D1220, D1221 (Fla. 3d DCA May 11, 1993) ("The term 'public housing,' in common parlance, is understood to encompass affordable, government subsidized housing for individuals or families with varied needs"; "The statute under review in this case provides sufficient guidance to drug dealers to allow them to avoid the enhanced penalty imposed by the legislature."). More qualification of the phrase obviously could have led to preposterous avoidance claims that the statute would not apply because "x" housing did not fit a specific statutory definition. Given the laudable purpose of the statute, i.e., to rid public housing facilities of the scourge of drugs, the statute is sufficiently specific to be constitutional.

Regarding the second requirement of the vagueness doctrine -- non-selective enforcement -- it is well established that "[o]ne to whose conduct a statute clearly

applies may not successfully challenge it for vagueness." Parker v. Levy, 417 U.S. 733, 756 (1974). Thus, a criminal statute is not unconstitutionally vague on its face unless it is "impermissibly vague in all of its applications." Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, Inc., 455 U.S. 489, 497 (1982) (emphasis supplied). Because petitioners made no claim that their conduct was not covered by section 893.13(1)(i),⁵ their contention that the statute covers too many possibilities should fall on deaf ears.

⁵ Only Leon Houston, against whom the state dropped the enhancement, made such an argument (T 4). In any event, any claim that petitioners did not commit the offense of narcotics possession at a public housing facility, as opposed to private or subsidized, is irrelevant to a facial challenge. Arguing that a statute is inapplicable is completely different from arguing that a statute is unconstitutional. In fact, arguing that a statute is inapplicable precludes a constitutional challenge:

Not only must a person be adversely affected by a statute in order to challenge its constitutionality but he also must be affected by the portion of the statute which he attacks. Thus, a person cannot raise an objection to part of the statute unless his rights are in some way injuriously affected thereby .

. . . .

* * * *

One who is not himself denied some constitutional right or privilege may no be heard to raise constitutional questions on behalf of some other person who may at some future time be affected.

State v. Olson, 586 So. 2d 1239, 1242 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

Petitioners' brief evidences their confusion of the doctrines of vagueness and overbreadth. Petitioners discussed at great length all the possible applications of the phrase "public housing facility," a inappropriate tack which the Second District adopted in its Thomas opinion. However, such an attack on the statute is permissible only in an overbreadth claim, which does not lie absent a facial challenge that the provision proscribes constitutionally protected speech or activities.⁶ "The First Amendment doctrine of substantial overbreadth is an exception to the general rule that a person to whom a statute may be constitutionally applied cannot challenge the statute on the ground that it may be unconstitutionally applied to others." Massachusetts v. Oakes, 491 U.S. 576, 581 (1989). With vagueness challenges, however, "[f]undamental constitutional principles dictate that one may not challenge those portions of an enactment which do not adversely affect his personal or property rights." Sandstrom v. Leader, 370 So. 2d 3, 4 (Fla. 1979). See also Parker, 417 U.S. at 756 (the vagueness doctrine does not permit the challenger of a statute to confuse vagueness and overbreadth by attacking

⁶ Petitioner understandably made no First Amendment challenge below. See State v. Burch, 545 So. 2d 279, 281 (4th DCA 1989) (the defendants "'did not and could not reasonably contend that [their] conduct in . . . [selling] cocaine within one thousand feet of a school was protected by the first amendment.'" (citation omitted), approved, 558 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1990).

the enactment as being vague as applied to conduct other than his own).

Such a personal stake in the outcome of the controversy is necessary in order "to assure that concrete adverseness which sharpens the presentation of issues upon which the court so largely depends for illumination of difficult constitutional questions[.] If we failed to abide by this limitation our Court would be relegated to being a "roving [commission] assigned to pass judgment on the validity of the [state's] laws."

* * * *

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